**RECEIVED**

**Feb 18 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Circuit Court Judge Deadra L. Jefferson  
Circuit Court Case No. 2025-CP-10-00921

---

Court of Appeals Case No. 2025-002194

---

Corel Lenhardt,

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County School District,

Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Emmanuel J. Ferguson  
FERGUSON LAW AND MEDIATION, LLC  
171 Church Street, Suite 160  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 491-4890  
emmanuel@fergusonlaborlaw.com

Attorney for Appellant Corel Lenhardt

Charleston, South Carolina  
February 18, 2026

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE RECORD LACKS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH “GOOD AND JUST CAUSE” FOR IMMEDIATE DISMISSAL AS REQUIRED BY TEDA.**
  
- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCEEDED ITS LIMITED SCOPE OF JUDICIAL REVIEW UNDER TEDA.**
  
- III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT MISINTERPRETED TEDA AND VIOLATED APPELLANT’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BY:**
  - 1. taking the position the hearing transcript was not part of the “record” and failing to provide a copy to the Board for review;**
  
  - 2. allowing the Superintendent to deliberate with the Board in a closed executive session outside Appellant’s presence; and,**
  
  - 3. failing to notify Appellant of the Board’s consideration of her matter despite Appellant’s express request for notice and a public hearing.**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from the Charleston County School District Board of Trustees' (the "Board") termination of Appellant Corel Lenhardt, Ph.D., a certified educator/administrator, following proceedings conducted under the South Carolina Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act ("TEDA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 59-25-410 et seq. After the administrative hearing, the Hearing Officer recommended Appellant's termination not be upheld. However, the Board, after receiving additional information from the Superintendent during executive session, did not follow the Hearing Officer's recommendation and voted to terminate her employment.

On August 30, 2024, the Superintendent of the Charleston County School District ("the Superintendent" or the "District") issued a written notice recommending Appellant's dismissal for alleged policy violations and related accusations. (Termination Letter dated Aug. 30, 2024). After receiving such notice, Appellant timely requested a hearing to challenge the recommendation. (Hearing Request Letter dated Sept. 11, 2024). A TEDA evidentiary hearing was conducted on December 20, 2024, before a Hearing Officer selected from a pool of officers appointed by the Board. (Administrative Hearing Transcript, Dec. 20, 2024). No Board members attended the December 20, 2024, hearing. On January 10, 2025, the

Hearing Officer issued a written Report and Recommendation (“R&R”). (R&R dated Jan. 10, 2025). As required by statute, the Hearing Officer’s R&R “contain[ed] findings of facts and conclusions of law” presented to the Board. (S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(A)(2)). On January 21, 2025, the Superintendent submitted a written response to the R&R. (District Response to R&R). On the same date, Appellant requested the Board adopt the Hearing Officer’s Report and Recommendation or have a public hearing on the matter.<sup>1</sup> Appellant also requested the Board 1) have access to the full transcript to review the record and exhibits presented during the December 20, 2024, hearing; and 2) have the Hearing Officer present to answer any questions the Board may have. (January 21, 2025, Email). Appellant’s requests were denied.

On January 27, 2025, the Board voted to uphold the Superintendent’s decision for dismissal. The Board issued its written Order on January 31, 2025. (Board Order dated Jan. 31, 2025). Appellant timely appealed the Board Order to the Court of Common Pleas in Charleston County, pursuant to TEDA. (Notice of Appeal filed Feb. 19, 2025).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on April 10, 2025. (Circuit Court Hearing Transcript, Apr. 10, 2025). On July 15, 2025, the Circuit Court affirmed the Board’s

---

<sup>1</sup> Board Policy allows a District employee to request the matter be taken up in open session. (District Policy BE).

termination decision. (Circuit Court Order dated July 15, 2025). Appellant timely moved for reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRCP. The Circuit Court denied reconsideration by Order dated October 23, 2025. (Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, dated Oct. 23, 2025). Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on October 27, 2025.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. The Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act (“TEDA”)

South Carolina law grants administrators on annual or multi-year contracts the same rights as teachers regarding discipline, termination, and appeals.<sup>2</sup> The United States Supreme Court recognized that public school teachers have a property interest in continued employment and, commensurate with that property interest, the state must provide notice and an opportunity to be heard before a teacher may be deprived of the right to continued employment. *Young v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 397 S.C. 303, 307, 725 S.E.2d 107, 109 (2012) (citing *Board of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 578 (1972)). There are two avenues that can be taken with respect to ending teacher’s “continuing contract.”<sup>3</sup> One avenue includes dismissal

---

<sup>2</sup> See, S.C. Code Ann. § 59-24-15 (“Certified education personnel who are employed as administrators on an annual or multi-year contract will retain their rights as a teacher under the provisions of Article 3 of Chapter 19 and Article 5 of Chapter 25 of this title but no such rights are granted to the position or salary of administrator. Any such administrator who presently is under a contract granting such rights shall retain that status until the expiration of that contract.”)

<sup>3</sup> Appellant’s status as an administrator on a “continuing contract” is not in dispute. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-26-40(J) (“A continuing contract teacher shall have full procedural rights that currently exist under law relating to employment and dismissal”).

after warning and “opportunity to correct,” while the other provides for immediate dismissal without warning or opportunity for correction. Each of these methods is intended to address different circumstances related to an educator’s actions or performance.

**B. Termination After Warning and Opportunity to Correct (S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-440).**

“Our General Assembly permits the termination of a teacher's employment -- without affording a reasonable time for the teacher to rectify the offending behavior -- *only under certain narrow circumstances.*” *Hall v. Bd. of Trs.*, 330 S.C. 402, 405, 499 S.E.2d 216, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)(emphasis added). “Other deficiencies or shortcomings, however, *must be addressed by giving the teacher notice and a reasonable time for improvement.*” *Hall v. Bd. of Trs.*, 330 S.C. at 406 (emphasis added). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-440, whenever a supervisor has concerns about a teacher/administrator, the supervisor must bring the concern to the attention of the teacher/administrator involved in writing. The supervisor must also make a reasonable effort to assist the teacher/administrator to correct whatever appears to be the cause of concern and allow reasonable time for improvement.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> See S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-440 (“Whenever a superior, principal, where applicable, or supervisor charged with the supervision of a teacher finds it necessary to admonish a teacher for a reason that he believes may lead to, or be cited as a reason for, dismissal or cause the teacher not to be reemployed he shall: (1) bring the matter in writing to the attention of the teacher involved and make a reasonable effort to assist the teacher to correct whatever appears to be the cause of potential dismissal or failure to be reemployed and, (2) except as provided in § 59-25-450, allow reasonable time for improvement.”).

“Unless we are to attribute inconsistency to the legislature, the two sections in question must speak to different categories of grounds for dismissal.” *Adams v. Clarendon Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 270 S.C. 266, 273, 241 S.E.2d 897, 900-01 (1978) “Section 59-25-430 identifies what is subject to its provisions, namely, an evident unfitness for teaching.” *Id.* “It logically follows, then, that § 59-25-440 must address those deficiencies or shortcomings other than those which manifest an evident unfitness for teaching but which do, nevertheless, constitute improper performance of employment duties.” *Id.*

**C. Immediate Termination Without Notice or Opportunity to Correct (S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430).**

TEDA also allows for immediate dismissal of a teacher without notice only in narrow circumstances. “Although the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act contemplates ‘evident unfitness for teaching’ to encompass a broad variety of deficiencies, *the Act was also intended to prevent the abuse of a school board’s power of termination.*” *Hall v. Bd. of Trs.*, 330 S.C. at 407 (emphasis added). “The Employment and Dismissal Act was not so much intended to limit this power as it was intended to prevent its abuse.” *Adams*, 270 S.C. at 272. “Consistent with this requirement, South Carolina’s appellate courts have upheld immediate termination only where evidence of unfitness for teaching was ‘undeniably and abundantly present.’” *Hall*, 330 S.C. at 407.

A teacher may be dismissed at any time who fails or is incompetent, “to give instruction in accordance with the directions of the superintendent, or who shall otherwise manifest an evident unfitness for teaching.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430. Pursuant to the statute, “[e]vident unfitness for teaching is manifested by conduct such as, but not limited to, the following: persistent neglect of duty, willful violation of rules and regulations of district board of trustees, drunkenness, conviction of a violation of the law of this State or the United States, gross immorality, dishonesty, illegal use, sale or possession of drugs or narcotics.” *Id.* This avenue for termination of a teacher’s employment is clearly intended to remove a teacher who has engaged in conduct that shows an evident unfitness for teaching.

However, “...when a teacher's conduct does not demonstrate unfitness for teaching of the type contemplated by the previously cited decisions, procedural safeguards must be followed to allow the teacher reasonable time to correct the problem.” *Hall*, 330 S.C. at 408. “This delineation is an important one. As noted in *Johnson* [*v. Spartanburg Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 7*, 314 S.C. 340, 343, 444 S.E.2d 501, 503 (1994)], ‘there must be a distinction between the cases, or it renders the legislature's intent to create procedural safeguards for educators a nullity.’” *Hall*, 330 S.C. at 408.

#### **D. Dismissal of Appellant, Corel Lenhardt**

Appellant was hired as an assistant principal at R.B. Stall High School (“Stall”) in 2016. (Lenhardt Resume). Like all Stall assistant principals, her duties included supervising a group of teachers, observing classes, and completing teacher evaluations in the “SCLead system.” (Hearing Transcript, p. 12:14–25; p. 13:9–25). Appellant’s supervisor was the school’s principal, Stephen Larson (“Larson”). At no time during her employment at Stall was Appellant ever disciplined, coached, placed on a performance improvement plan, or given any warning her performance was an issue. (Exhibit 3 Hearing Transcript, p. 23:15–19).<sup>5</sup>

On March 22, 2024, Appellant suffered a traumatic brain injury while helping break up a fight between two students in a hallway. (Hearing Transcript, p. 137:4-4; p. 468:20–25). During the incident, she fell backward and hit the back of her head on a concrete wall corner. (Hearing Transcript, p. 370:11-25; Still images of Surveillance Camera). Appellant was taken to the emergency room the same day and was diagnosed with a concussion. (Hearing Transcript, p. 371:6-12). She was placed on leave by her doctor and, on or about March 25, 2024, Appellant applied for workers’ compensation benefits as well as leave under the FMLA. (Hearing Transcript, p. 372:9-23).

---

<sup>5</sup> Mr. Larson affirmed he never gave Dr. Lenhardt a written reprimand or letter of admonishment about alleged performance issues; Both Mr. Larson and others acknowledged that no documented corrective measures appear in her personnel file prior to spring 2024.

Around April 8, 2024, while she was out on leave, Larson began an investigation into issues related to Appellant’s evaluations of teachers and her use of leave. (Hearing Transcript, p. 29:3-31:2). Although that investigation began in April 2024, the investigation into alleged performance concerns traced back as far as the 2017–2018 school year. (Exhibit 5 - Larson Concerns memo). Although she was not Appellant’s supervisor, another assistant principal, Virginia Sayer, participated in the investigation, as she had a role in ensuring teacher evaluations were entered and “closed out” in the reporting system (Hearing Tr. P. 172:24-73:3). Unaware she was under investigation, Appellant was summoned to meet with District representatives on August 16, 2024. (Hearing Transcript, p. 63:16-64:18, 364:16-17, 367:14-24). This meeting was scheduled while Appellant was still on leave. (August 9, 2024, Email Dr. Lenhardt to Remain Out of Work).

Expecting to discuss her requested accommodations and return-to-work plan, Appellant was surprised by questions about her performance and attendance. (Hearing Transcript, p. 394:11-395:18). Since she was not prepared to address these topics, Appellant asked that any concerns be provided in writing and she memorialized that request in an email with her attorney copied for the District to see. (August 16, 2024, Email with Christmas Firm copied). On Saturday, August 17, 2024, the District emailed questions to Appellant’s personal email but did not copy or otherwise send them to her attorney. (Hearing Transcript, p. 262:14-264:17);

(August 16, 2024, Email to District Including Counsel for Lenhardt). Notably, the District was aware Appellant was represented by counsel and was still out on leave due to her injuries. However, the District did not notify Appellant’s counsel of the meeting, work with counsel for Appellant to schedule the meeting, or send the “post-meeting” written questions to Appellant’s counsel. (Hearing Tr. P. 262:10-264:17).

Thirteen days later, and while she was still out on leave, Appellant was presented with a letter from the Superintendent on August 30, 2024, recommending the immediate termination of her employment (the “Termination Letter”) (August 30, 2024, Termination Letter). The Termination Letter identified two reasons for the decision to terminate Appellant’s employment: 1) “falsifying evaluation documents,” and 2) “misrepresenting leave.” (August 30, 2024, Termination Letter).<sup>6</sup>

Appellant timely requested a hearing before the Charleston County School District Board of Trustees. (September 11, 2024, Letter Requesting TEDA Hearing). The Superintendent elected to assign a hearing officer to conduct the hearing and determine the facts of the matter. Attorney Amy L. Gaffney, Esq., was selected as the Hearing Officer. A hearing was held on December 20, 2024, and lasted over

---

<sup>6</sup> The Termination Letter includes a “catch all” phrase stating the termination recommendation was based on “these and other reasons.” Although unclear what the “other reasons” were, the Letter identifies “collusion with a subordinate” and “refusal to participate in an investigation” as other concerns the District had.

eight hours with nine witnesses and twenty-two exhibits introduced. No Board members attended any portion of the hearing. On January 10, 2025, the Hearing Officer issued a Report and Recommendation (“R&R”) concluding there was not substantial evidence to support terminating Appellant’s employment and the Superintendent’s termination recommendation should not be adopted. (January 10, 2025, Report and Recommendation) Specifically, the R&R held:

NOW THEREFORE, the undersigned Hearing Officer, having heard and considered the testimony of witnesses presented during a hearing on December 20, 2024, and having reviewed the evidence offered in the course of such hearing, and based on the foregoing, hereby recommends to the Charleston County School District Board of Trustees that the termination letter dated August 30, 2024, recommending the termination of [Appellant] Corel Lenhardt, not be upheld. (January 10, 2025, Report and Recommendation at page 16).

On January 21, 2025, the Superintendent submitted a written response to the Board regarding the Hearing Officer’s R&R. (District Response to R&R). In turn, Appellant asked the Board for a public hearing, or to adopt the R&R. (January 21, 2025, Request for a Hearing). Appellant also asked the Board to have a copy of the transcript available to review. The Superintendent opposed Appellant’s requests. It also informed the Board that “there is no requirement that the Board have the entire transcript available” and that it would be “impossible” to produce a transcript and have each Board member read it by February 10, 2025. (January 22, 2025, Email to Chairman Grybowski From Counsel for the Superintendent). Appellant informed the Chairman of the Board that the Board should have a copy of the transcript because

it is required to preserve a record of the hearing, but Appellant will supply it if needed. (January 22, 2025, Email to Chairman Grybowski From Counsel for the Board).<sup>7</sup> The Board offered no response to Appellant.

#### **E. Board of Trustees' Vote on Appellant's Employment**

On January 22, 2025, Appellant emailed the Superintendent's counsel and the Board Chair to see if her matter would be heard at the January 27, 2025, meeting since the agenda made no mention of it. (January 22, 2025, Email to Chairman Grybowski Requesting Notice; January 27, 2025 Board Meeting Agenda). Appellant also requested the Superintendent and the Board to inform her, "if an amended agenda has been published or if the matter will be addressed at another time." (January 22, 2025, Email to Chairman Grybowski Requesting Notice). Neither the Superintendent nor the Board responded to Appellant's request.

On January 29, 2025, Appellant again requested notification of when her matter would be addressed. (January 29, 2025, Email to Chairman Grybowski Following Up on Request for Notice). Only then did the Superintendent inform her that the Board had already voted on her employment recommendation at the January 27, 2025, meeting. (January 29, 2025, Reply Following Up on Request for Notice).

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant did not have a copy of the transcript at the time but was willing to contact the court reporter and order a rushed copy, if needed. Appellant ordered the transcript on her own on January 29, 2025, after learning the Superintendent did not order a copy and the Board voted on the matter without informing Appellant. (Appellant's Transcript Order Request).

The Board voted against adopting the Hearing Officer’s R&R and decided to uphold the termination recommendation. (January 29, 2025, Email to Counsel for Dr. Lenhardt Regarding Board Vote). Notably, Appellant was never informed of the change to the agenda, even after she requested to be notified when the matter was going to be placed on the January 27, 2025, agenda. In addition to the District’s intentional refusal to provide Appellant with notice, the amended agenda did not identify Appellant’s matter was added to the January 27, 2025, meeting. Instead, the amended agenda only included “Personnel Matter – Teacher Appeal.” (January 27, 2025, Amended Agenda, Charleston County School Board of Trustees Meeting).

The Board considered Appellant’s matter during executive session at the January 27, 2025, meeting without a hearing or any public discussion, as Appellant requested.<sup>8</sup> Even more alarming is the fact that the Superintendent and others representing her interests were allowed to provide the Board with additional information, including a factual summary of the hearing, the Superintendent’s personal opinions of the Hearing Officer, and legal conclusions outside the presence of Appellant or the public.

Appellant made multiple attempts to obtain information regarding who was present during executive session on January 27, 2025. However, the Superintendent

---

<sup>8</sup> The Board was required to review the evidence related to Appellant’s hearing in public under Board Policy BE.

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