RECEIVED

Mar 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Circuit Court Judge Deadra L. Jefferson
Circuit Court Case No. 2025-CP-10-00921

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002194

Corel Lenhardt Appellant,

v.

Charleston County School District Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Alice F. Paylor (SC Bar#: 4380)
Rene Stuhr Dukes (SC Bar#: 78215)
Saxton & Stump, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 709-4348
afp@saxtonstump.com
rdukes@saxtonstump.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD’S DECISION TO TERMINATE APPELLANT MUST BE UPHeld BECAUSE IT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430, “[a]ny teacher may be dismissed at any time who shall fail, or who may be incompetent, to give instruction in accordance with the directions of the superintendent, or who shall otherwise manifest an evident unfitness for teaching, [which is] manifested by conduct such as, but not limited to, the following: persistent neglect of duty, willful violation of rules and regulations of district boards of trustee, . . . dishonesty. . . .”

“Section 59-25-430 sets forth a non-exclusive list of examples of unfitness for teaching.” Hall v. Bd. of Trustees of Sumter Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 2, 330 S.C. 402, 406, 499 S.E.2d 216, 218 (Ct. App. 1998).³ Moreover, an employee’s intentional refusal to comply with the reasonable directives of her employer can, *standing alone*, demonstrate “an evident unfitness for teaching,” sufficient to uphold termination. Hall, 330 S.C. at 411, 499 S.E.2d at 221 (Howell, C.J. dissenting).

“A school board has long had the power to discharge teachers ‘when good and sufficient reasons for so doing present themselves,’” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-19-90(2). TEDA “was not so much intended to limit this power as it was intended to prevent its abuse.” Adams, 270 S.C. at 272–73, 241 S.E.2d at 900.

³ Additionally, TEDA applies to District employees, such as Appellant, who have the duty to supervise teachers. Barr v. Bd. of Trs. of Clarendon Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 2, 319 S.C. 522, 527, 462 S.E.2d 316, 318–19 (Ct. App. 1995); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-24-15.

Pursuant to § 59-25-460, a school board may delegate its authority to conduct the evidentiary hearing to a designee. However, “[t]he board retains final decision-making authority regarding the teacher dismissal or suspension recommendation based on its consideration of the record, the report and recommendation, and any written submission of the superintendent and teacher.” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(B)(2). In accordance with § 59-25-460(D), “[t]he *board* shall determine if the evidence shows good and just cause for the notice of suspension or dismissal and accordingly shall render a decision to affirm or withdraw the notice of suspension or dismissal,” (emphasis added).

In this case, the Board had “good and sufficient reasons” to terminate Appellant *for cause* based on her failure to complete teacher evaluations in accordance with the South Carolina Department of Education’s process, and for her misrepresentations regarding personal leave and her refusal to participate in an investigation.

a. Appellant’s Failure to Complete Teacher Evaluations

At the time of her termination, Appellant was an assistant principal and not a classroom teacher. Although § 59-25-430 speaks to “unfitness for teaching,” the scope of the statute clearly extends to the demonstrated unfitness of a continuing contract administrator. Appellant’s responsibilities as an assistant principal included, among other things, conducting teacher evaluations and supervising teachers. Tr.12:10-20. Appellant failed to timely and properly evaluate the teachers for whom she was responsible and, in some cases, fraudulently closed the evaluation without completing the process. Appellant ignored multiple requests for a meeting from one teacher in particular and then claimed they met for a final conference, which account the teacher denied. Tr. 173:19-176:12. The same pattern of misconduct occurred for another teacher. Another first-year teacher trying to achieve annual summative on his way to continuing contract status

reached out to the Office of Teacher Effectiveness for assistance. Appellant neither observed him nor held consensus meetings as required, and the evaluation folder did not contain critical signatures. Another teacher's folder contained multiple discrepancies regarding dates and a shortage of data sheets and meaningful reflections. Three more teachers for whom Appellant was responsible received incomplete and/or erroneous evaluations. Despite Appellant's injury and explanations, she never asked for help with the evaluations. Instead, with the click of a button she marked six evaluations complete. Resp. Ex. 3. Report and Recommendation, pp. 4-8.

Appellant's conduct in handling her teacher evaluation responsibilities constitutes substantial evidence of both her "unfitness for teaching" and unfitness for supervising teaching, in violation of §59-25-430; as does her failure to follow Board policies, specifically the policy relating to dishonesty and Policy GBE requiring that she abide by state laws and regulations, carry out her duties with conscientious concern, and submit required documents on time. Her dismissal must be upheld.

b. Fraudulent Use of Leave Time

Furthermore, there is substantial evidence to support the Board's conclusion that Appellant knowingly and fraudulently used sick leave. As a 222-day contract employee, Appellant did not accrue vacation leave. Appellant knew her contract did not accrue vacation leave. And still she took two personal trips (in one month) with leave she did not have. As an assistant principal and supervisor she is a leader at the school, and her misuse of leave was dishonest and deceptive. Her identification of leave time as "vacation" leave and/or "sick" leave is further evidence of unfitness for teaching. Her dismissal must be upheld.

c. Refusal to Follow Employer's Directive

Lastly, Appellant's absolute refusal to answer written questions regarding her principal's concerns is a violation of the Board's policies, specifically Policy GBE. Policy GBE requires her to cooperate with investigations the District undertakes. This is further evidence of unfitness for teaching. Her dismissal must be upheld.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT EXCEED ITS SCOPE OF JUDICIAL REVIEW.

Appellant misapprehends the statutory framework of TEDA. App. Brief, p. 26. First, while TEDA governs the process and procedure for teacher employment and dismissal, it does *not* define the scope of judicial review of the Board's decision to terminate a teacher. If the Board elects to conduct the evidentiary hearing, it must issue a written order containing findings of fact and conclusions of law within thirty (30) days after the hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(C). However, in the event the Board delegates its authority to preside over the evidentiary hearing, as it did here, the hearing officer must submit a report and recommendation with findings of fact and conclusions of law to the Board. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(2). Then, the only action required of the Board is for it to "issue a decision affirming or withdrawing the notice of . . . dismissal within thirty days." *Id.*⁴

Appellant also misapplies the limited standard of review set forth in Shell v. Richland County School. Dist. No.1, 362 S.C. 408, 608 S.E.2d 428 (2005). In Shell, the Richland County School District terminated a teacher solely on the basis that he was arrested on two occasions twelve years apart. Neither arrest led to conviction. *Id.* at 409, 608 S.E.2d at 428-429. At the evidentiary hearing, the superintendent acknowledged Shell had no classroom performance issues

⁴ Contrary to what Appellant argues, the Board does not accept or reject the hearing officer's recommendation. App. Brief, p. 31. In fact, under TEDA, the hearing officer plays a very limited role in the appellate process. See S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(2).

and denied that any negative publicity associated with the arrests factored into his decision to terminate Shell. Id. at 410, 608 S.E.2d at 428-29. The board affirmed the superintendent’s decision. On review, the Circuit Court reversed the Board, finding that the facts in the record “did not constitute substantial evidence that Shell was unfit to teach” Id. at 410, 680 S.E.2d at 429. On appeal, the South Carolina Court of Appeals disagreed and, based in part on its own findings, concluded the teacher had evidenced unfitness for teaching by virtue of his dishonesty, the publicity attendant to the arrests, and the negative reaction to the arrests from his colleagues, students, and school parents. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court reversed on account of the Court of Appeals making “its own independent evidentiary findings to support the termination.” Id. at 411, 680 S.E.2d at 429. The South Carolina Supreme Court reaffirmed that the “scope of review of case brought pursuant to Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act [is] limited to whether grounds given for termination are supported by substantial evidence.” Id. (citing Laws v. Richland County School District No. 1, 270 S.C. 492, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978)).

Here, the Circuit Court properly limited its review to “whether there was substantial evidence for the Board’s unanimous decision to terminate Dr. Lenhardt.” Circuit Court Order, July 15, 2-025, p. 9. The Circuit Court determined there was and therefore upheld the Board’s order adopting the Termination Recommendation. Because there is substantial evidence to support Appellant’s dismissal under § 59-25-430, this Court should affirm the Order.

III. THE DISTRICT DID NOT MISINTERPRET TEDA NOR DID IT VIOLATE APPELLANT’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

“The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’ Due process does not mandate any particular form of procedure, but is a flexible concept changing with the circumstances.” Tall Tower, Inc. v. S.C. Procurement Rev. Panel, 294 S.C. 225, 232, 363 S.E.2d 683, 686–87 (1987) (internal citations

omitted). Here, “[a] demonstration of *substantial* prejudice is required to establish a due process claim.” Id. at 233, 363 S.E.2d at 681 (citing Palmetto Alliance v. S.C. Public Service Authority, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695 (1984)) (emphasis added). Appellant received notice of the matters to be decided, had the ability to present witnesses on her behalf, and had the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses called by the opposing party. Id. As such, she has no basis for asserting a due process claim. Mere disagreement with the Board’s decision is woefully insufficient to establish substantial prejudice. Id.

TEDA codified the due process rights afforded to teachers subject to dismissal. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-10 *et seq.* No one disputes the District gave Appellant written notice of the grounds for her termination, pursuant to § 59-25-430. *See* Superintendent Letter, dated August 30, 2024. Appellant requested a hearing and the District provided her with notice of the hearing, as set forth in §§ 59-25-460 and 59-25-470. *Trans.*, pp. 1, 470. During the hearing, Appellant, through her counsel, presented and cross-examined witnesses. *See generally* *Trans.* Accordingly, Appellant was afforded all the due process to which she was entitled. She suffered no prejudice, let alone *substantial* prejudice, and cannot show otherwise. Appellant is, naturally, displeased with the Board’s decision, but this is not a basis on which to reverse.

a. The Board was Not Required to Review the Transcript of the Evidentiary Hearing Before Making its Decision

S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-460(2) sets forth the rights of the teacher and the duties of the Board when the Board elects to delegate oversight of the evidentiary hearing to a hearing officer:

If the designee holds the evidentiary hearing, he shall issue a written report and recommendation containing findings of facts and conclusions of law to the board, superintendent, and teacher within fifteen days after the hearing concludes. The superintendent and the teacher may submit a written response to this report and recommendation to the board within ten days after the date on which the report and recommendation are issued, after which the board shall issue a decision affirming or

withdrawing the notice of suspension or dismissal within thirty days. In the interim, the board may conduct a hearing on the order to consider any written responses from the superintendent and teacher, but this hearing may not operate to extend the thirty-day limit in which the board shall issue its decision affirming or withdrawing the notice of suspension or dismissal. The board retains final decision-making authority regarding the teacher dismissal or suspension recommendation based on its consideration of the record, the report and recommendation, and any written submission of the superintendent and teacher.

The District fully complied with its obligations under TEDA. The Hearing Officer timely issued the Report and Recommendation to the Board, the Superintendent, and Appellant on January 10, 2025. The Superintendent submitted her Response to the Board Chair with a copy to Appellant on January 21, 2025. Email dated January 21, 2025, with attachment. Appellant similarly had the right to submit a written response and chose not to.

The Superintendent's 13-page Response, which the Board considered in Executive Session, identified the following egregious errors in the Report and Recommendation:

- The Hearing Officer ignored the fact that Appellant was terminated for cause pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-430 and erroneously based her recommendation, in part, on the District's failure to provide Appellant corrective measures and the opportunity to improve which was, by law, *not* required. This confusion over the statutory provisions rendered her legal conclusion baseless. Response, pp. 2,10
- The Hearing Officer wrongly relied on testimony that was completely irrelevant to the bases of the Superintendent's decision to terminate. Response, p. 6
- The Hearing Officer ignored testimony that was relevant to the grounds for termination, which was brought to the Board's attention by the Superintendent. Response, pp. 3-5, 7-9
- In other cases, the Hearing Officer misunderstood the testimony. Report, pp 10-12
- The legal conclusions of the Hearing Officer were limited to whether Appellant had willfully violated the rules and regulations of the District and completely ignored the other reasons for termination. The Superintendent provided relevant case law for the Board's consideration. Report and Recommendation, pp. 11-15; Report, p. 12-13.

There is no statutory provision that requires the District to order, pay for, and provide the hearing transcript to the Board for use in its deliberation. The statutory deadlines would not accommodate this in any event. The Board had before it and properly considered the Report and Recommendation, copies of the exhibits introduced at the hearing, and the Response in reaching its decision to uphold the termination.

Appellant cites Young v. Charleston County School District, 391 S.C. 303, 725 S.E.2d 107 (2012), for support that the Board's failure to read the hearing transcript caused her to suffer substantial prejudice. Young, which was decided four years before the Legislature amended § 59-25-460 to allow a board to utilize a designee for an evidentiary hearing, involved a three-member committee of board members who reached a two-to-one decision to uphold the termination. Id. at 305, 125 S.E.2d at 107-08. The committee then telephoned a quorum of the board, sitting in executive session, and the quorum voted four to three not to renew the teacher's contract. The sole question presented in Young, was "[w]hether the Board violated Appellant's due process rights by not convening a quorum to hear Appellant's non-renewal appeal." Id. at 306, 725 S.E.2d at 108. A majority of the South Carolina Supreme Court held that "a quorum of the Board must engage in a *meaningful* review of the evidence and testimony presented at the hearing" and determined that the Young board did not conduct such a review. Id. at 307, 725 S.E.2d at 109. The Supreme Court explained that the board's affirmation of dismissal would be upheld "so long as they [the board committee] presented their findings to the full board, and the full board based its decision on these facts" Id. at 308-309, 725 S.E.2d at 109-110. The Young Court cited Pettiford v. South Carolina Bd. of Ed., 218 S.C. 322, 62 S.E.2d, 780 (1950), for guidance on determining the limits of due process in a quasi-judicial setting. In Pettiford, there was no due process violation where two members of the Board of Education heard live testimony, which testimony was presented to

the full Board, and where a written summary of the evidence introduced by the parties was also provided for consideration. Id. at 345, 62 S.E.2d at 790. Importantly, the court in Young did not reverse the Circuit Court but instead remanded the matter for further proceedings in keeping with the requirements set down by the Court. Young, 397 S.C. at 310-11, 725 S.E.2d at 111.

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